IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

Case No. 2009-CA-00599

SHARON DUNN Appellant

versus

DR. JOHN YAGER Appellee

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

On Direct Appeal from the Circuit Court of Jackson County, Mississippi NO. CI-96-0124(3)

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

Submitted by:

GREGG L. SPYRIDON
PHILIP G. SMITH (
Spyridon, Palermo & Palermo, L.L.C.
3838 N. Causeway Blvd., Suite 3010
Three Lakeway Center
Metairie, LA 70002-8335
Telephone: (504) 830-7800
Fax: (504) 830-7810
Attorneys for Sharon Dunn

(1) CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- Whether the trial court erred in precluding Sharon Dunn from timely adding or substituting a neurology expert of her choice more than four years or 1,509 days prior to trial, before any experts were deposed, and where there was no prejudice to the defendant.
- II. Whether the trial court erred in precluding Sharon Dunn from establishing the standard of care owed by a neurologist by introducing the video deposition of defendant's neurologist, Dr. Harry Gould: (1) who had been designated by the defendant as an expert; (2) who had been deposed by all parties regarding the standard of care owed by a neurologist; (3) whose deposition had been used by both Dr. Yager and Sharon Dunn in support of Motions for Summary Judgment; and (4) who was never withdrawn or released by the Dr. Yager as a defense expert.
- III. Whether the trial court erred in precluding Sharon Dunn from impeaching the defendant, Dr. Yager, at trial with the video deposition of defendant's neurology expert, Dr. Harry Gould, when the defendant, Dr. Yager: (1) was qualified, tendered and accepted by the court as a neurology expert at trial; (2) offered opinions at trial as to the proper standard of care required of a neurologist, and (3) acknowledged reading the deposition of Dr. Harry Gould and his opinions regarding the proper standard of care.
- IV. Whether the trial court erred in precluding Sharon Dunn from introducing excerpts from the 2009 PDR while allowing Dr. Yager to introduce excerpts from the 1996, 1997, and 2008 PDR. The 2009 PDR quantifies well known material risks of

- carbamezapine (generic Tegretol), including severe dermatological reactions, such as Stevens Johnson Syndrome, which would have mandated disclosure of those risks to a patient like Sharon Dunn in order to obtain her informed consent.
- V. Whether the trial court erred in instructing the jury that in order to obtain a patient's "informed consent," a doctor need not disclose all the material risks associated with taking Tegretol, only those risks that are customarily and routinely disclosed by a physician pursuant to the "alleged" standard of care and that a finding that Dr. Yager did not breach the "alleged" standard of care absolved Dr. Yager of all theories of liability, including lack of informed consent.
- VI. Whether the trial court erred in precluding Sharon Dunn from participating in her own trial by addressing the jury during closing argument in accordance with Article3, Section 25, of the Mississippi Constitution.
- VII. Whether the trial court erred in disclosing to the jury the fact that the plaintiff, Sharon Dunn, had settled with former defendants who did not participate in the trial without establishing the relevance of the settlement and that the probative value of the settlement outweighed the prejudicial effect of the disclosure of the settlement.

Malkin was denied by the Mississippi Supreme Court. This matter proceeded to trial without Sharon Dunn's neurology expert of choice and on January 8, 2009, the jury returned a verdict for the defendant, Dr. Yager (Excerpts: Record p. 3276) and Judgment was entered on January 13, 2009. (Excerpts: Record p. 3277) & (Record p. 65). On January 23, 2009, plaintiff filed her Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict, Relief from Judgment, and New Trial, (Excerpts: Record pp. 3278-86)³ which was denied on March 13, 2009. (Excerpts: Record pp. 3367). Plaintiff's Notice of Appeal was filed on April 9, 2009. (Record pp. 3367).

III. FACTS RELEVANT TO THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Prior to and during trial, which proceeded solely against Dr. Yager, a neurologist, the trial court erroneously (a) limited Sharon Dunn from putting on her case-in-chief with an expert neurologist of her choice; (b) precluded Ms. Dunn from impeaching Dr. Yager with his own neurology expert; (c) excluded evidence of the material risks of Tegretol; (d) gave inaccurate, misleading and unsupported jury instructions on informed consent; (e) restricted Sharon Dunn from participating in her own trial; and (f) allowed into evidence irrelevant and prejudicial evidence of her prior settlements.

A. <u>Prior to the trial on the merits, the trial court improperly precluded Sharon Dunn from proceeding with the neurology expert of her choice</u>

Sharon Dunn was severely prejudiced by the trial court's refusal to allow her to use her neurology expert of choice. The trial court's exclusive basis for precluding Sharon Dunn from using Dr. Stanley Malkin as her expert neurologist at trial was Sharon Dunn's failure to timely designate Dr. Malkin, a technical, but not substantive violation of an agreed Case

³The exhibits to this motion appear in the record-at-pp. 3287-3365.

Management Order. As demonstrated below, the procedural background of this case reveals that the inclusion of Dr. Malkin would not have resulted in any prejudice to Dr. Yager. More importantly, Sharon Dunn was entitled to present the best possible case, which was jeopardized when the trial court forced Sharon Dunn to hinge her success on the opinions of Dr. John Olson, who was ridiculed by the defendant throughout the trial for all of his shortcomings, and whom plaintiff tried to avoid by attempting to substitute Dr. Malkin for Dr. Olson or by calling defendant's expert, Dr. Harry Gould.

On July 20, 2004, the trial court entered an Agreed Case Management Order which required Sharon Dunn to designate her experts by August 20, 2004 and rebuttal experts by October 5, 2004. (Record p. 934). This Case Management Order also provided a trial date of January 10, 2005. On August 20, 2004, Sharon Dunn designated Dr. John Olson, who was not board certified, as an expert in Neurology. (Excerpts: Record pp. 1383-84). Thereafter, on September 27, 2004, Dr. Yager designated two board certified neurology experts, Dr. Kevin L. McKinley and Dr. Terry J. Millette. (Record p. 31). On October 13, 2004, in anticipation that Dr. Yager would claim that under Alabama law¹ only a board certified neurologist could testify against him, Sharon Dunn designated Dr. Stanley Malkin, a board certified neurologist. (Excerpts: Record pp. 2091-2111). Dr. Malkin's designation was identical to the designation of Dr. Olson. (Excerpts: Record pp. 2047-48, 2061-68, 2091-95 & 2096-2100). On October 25, 2004, the Mississippi Supreme Court granted Dr. Yager's interlocutory appeal on personal jurisdiction and stayed all proceedings in the trial court for two years. (Excerpts: Record p. 2195). At the time the Mississippi Supreme Court stayed this matter, no neurology experts

⁴See Ala. Code § 6-5-548(c)(3).

Dunn was precluded a second time from impeaching Dr. Yager with the testimony of Dr. Gould during defendant's case-in-chief. (Trial Transcript pp. 1526-27).

During Dr. Yager's direct examination by defense counsel, Dr. Yager was qualified. tendered, and accepted by the court as an expert in neurology, physiology, biophysics and neurophysiology. (Trial Transcript pp. 1551-65). During direct examination, Dr. Yager testified regarding the standard of care of neurologist. (Trial Transcript pp. 1755, 1816-18.) 1822 & 1866). During Dr. Yager's cross-examination, the trial court precluded Sharon Dunn from questioning Dr. Yager regarding Dr. Gould's standard of care deposition testimony. (Trial Transcript pp. 2002-06). On December 11, 2008, Sharon Dunn sought to introduce the trial testimony of Dr. Gould by video deposition, to which Dr. Yager objected relying on the case of General Motors Corp. v. Jackson. (Trial Transcript pp. 2022-38). On December, 11, 2008, Sharon Dunn also filed her Memorandum in Support of the Introduction of Former Testimony of Defendant's Neurologist Expert Dr. Harry Gould distinguishing Jackson from the case at bar. (Record pp. 3051-3138). In response to Dr. Yager's objection to the introduction of Dr. Gould's testimony, the trial court precluded the introduction of Dr. Gould's testimony stating, in relevant part: "The Court noted that the jurors, at least at the outset of this trial, were taking copious notes. Under the General Motors case, I find the testimony of Dr. Gould to he highly prejudicial to the defense and will not allow it. That's the ruling of the court. . . . " (Trial Transcript p.2037, In. 29 - p.2038, In. 5) (See also Trial Transcript p.2034, In. 29 - p.2038, In. 5).

C. <u>Sharon Dunn was prejudiced by the preclusion of the 2009 Physician's Desk</u> Reference

During the trial of the case, Dr. Yager and all of his experts contended that the risk of developing severe dermatological reactions such as SJS from Tegretol (carbamezapine) was about one (1) in a million. (Trial Transcript p. 1827, ln. 1 (Dr. Yager); pp. 2402-03 (Dr. Wilson)). Sharon Dunn contended that the risk was one hundred (100) times greater, or less than one in 10,000. (Excerpts: Plaintiff's Trial Exhibit 106, p. 15, ¶1, identification) (Excerpts: Trial Transcript pp. 3240-42 & 3274-76). In 2008, the FDA recognized the greater risk and included it in the package insert for generic carbamezapine, which was published in the 2009 PDR. (Excerpts: Plaintiff's Trial Exhibit 110, identification). Despite the fact that the Court freely allowed the defendant to introduce excerpts from the 1996, 1997, and 2008 PDR, (Defendant's Trial Exhibit 110, 130 & 131) the trial court precluded plaintiff from introducing this highly probative evidence, which would have not only aided the jury's understanding of the material risks of Tegretol, but also would have contradicted and impeached the defendant's experts, including Dr. Yager, regarding the material risks of using Tegretol.

D. The trial court gave confusing and misleading jury instructions which improperly cumulated Sharon Dunn's informed consent and negligence causes of action.

Sharon Dunn contends that her instruction P8A (Excerpts: Record pp. 3240-41) accurately reflected Mississippi's law on informed consent and that Dr. Yager's instructions D10 and D30 (Excerpts: Record pp. 3173 & 3195-96 respectively) directly conflict with P8A. In particular, Sharon Dunn contends that jury instructions D10 and D30 incorrectly instruct the jury that in order to obtain Sharon Dunn's informed consent, a doctor does <u>not</u> have to disclose <u>all</u> of the material risks associated with prescribing Tegretol, only those risks which are routinely disclosed by doctors of similar training under the same or similar circumstances.

Additionally, defendant's jury instructions D8A, 14, 18, 27, and 33, improperly instructs the jury that a finding that Dr. Yager's actions met the standard of care for a "similarly trained" doctor that he was absolved of all liability, including informed consent, which does not depend on the applicable standard of care, but rather disclosure of all material risks.

E. The trial court committed reversible error when it refused to allow Sharon Dunn to participate in closing argument.

In an attempt to also highlight the testimony and credibility of Sharon Dunn regarding the critical issue of what warnings Dr. Yager gave to Sharon Dunn, counsel for Sharon Dunn requested that Sharon Dunn be allowed to provide a portion of her closing argument. (Record, p. 3562-3564). Despite advising the trial court that a party's participation in their own civil trial was protected under of Article 3 Section 25, the trial court nevertheless refused to allow Sharon Dunn participate in closing argument. The trial court provided:

Actually, in 1976, when I prosecuted Jimmy Lee Grafe for the murder of a three-year-old girl, Judge Palmer would not let him, at closing, address the Supreme Court - - or address the jury. The Supreme Court reversed; but that is in a criminal case only. It's not applicable to the civil case, and it's overruled. Move on. (Trial transcript p. 3564).

F. The trial court improperly notified the jury of Sharon Dunn's prior settlement before the defendant established its relevance and weighing its probative value.

The plaintiff, Sharon Dunn, was prejudiced before the opening statements were presented in this case. At the onset of this trial, and over the objection of plaintiff expressed in her Motion *In Limine* (Record, p. 2568), the trial court advised the jury that Sharon Dunn had received settlement funds from defendants not at trial. Addressing the jury directly, the trial court stated:

There were a number of defendants. Some of those defendants have had their case concluded against them, some have settled, and you'll hear that from the

lawyers. The settlement amounts, and how some of these cases have been resolved, are not your concern. You're here as a jury to give that lady in the back there, Ms. Dunn, and this gentleman to my right, Dr. Yager, a fair trial. And you need to listen to the facts about Dr. Yager and this lady, and not be concerned about these other individuals. As to Drs. Lehman, Coss and Novartis, the pharmaceutical company, you'll receive instructions at the end of the trial to explain what you need to do with respect to any other defendants. (Trial Transcript p. 620, Ins. 3-18).

Despite the trial court's pre-trial instruction, the jury was never instructed by the trial court regarding how to handle the settling defendants because Dr. Yager never attempted to apportion fault to any of the absent defendants. In fact, the Defendant voluntarily withdrew their only proposed instruction which sought to cast liability onto the settling physician, Dr. Coss. (Record p. 3161-62). The verdict form submitted by Dr. Yager and allowed by the trial court did not provide for the apportioning of fault to any of the settling defendants. (Record p. 3272).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Sharon Dunn was prescribed Tegretol, an anti-epileptic drug, by defendant, Dr. Yager, to treat her persistent complaint of low back pain following a work-related fork lift accident at Ingalls Shipyard. According to the manufacturer's label (package insert), which was intended for the physician, patients should be made aware of the early signs and symptoms of fever, sore throat, ulcers in the mouth. (Excerpt: Plaintiff's Trial Exhibit 6).

Two weeks after Sharon Dunn began taking the Tegretol, she developed flu-like symptoms while at work at Ingalls, including fever and sore throat. She testified that she felt like she was getting the flu and went home at the end of her shift to try and sleep it off, but continued to take the Tegretol. The next morning, her symptoms had become worse. Her fever was elevated, she could not swallow and she had developed ulcers in her mouth. She could not see out of one eye and she had blurred vision in the other. She consulted a family physician, Dr. Coss, who initially diagnosed her with conjunctivitis, stomatitis and a bacterial infection. The following day she was rushed to the Emergency Room of Stone County Hospital where she was diagnosed with Stevens Johnson Syndrome (SJS), a life threatening dermatologic reaction to Tegretol which, if not treated early, can and did result in the permanent, irreversible, loss of her vision and severe burns and scarring over 75% of her body.

Despite the clear manufacturer's warning to physicians, Dr. Yager did not advise Sharon Dunn that if she developed flu-like symptoms like fever and sore throat or ulcers in the mouth, that it may not be the flu, but rather, could be a serious life-threatening reaction to her medication and that she should stop the medicine immediately and consult a physician. At

trial, Sharon Dunn contended that the standard of care for a neurologist prescribing Tegretol off label for pain required the neurologist to advise the patient that if they developed flu-like symptoms such as fever, sore throat, and ulcers in the mouth, that it may not be the flu, but rather an adverse reaction to the medication, even if the symptoms appear several weeks after she began taking the medication. Sharon Dunn also contends that she was never informed of all the material risks associated with Tegretol and, as a result, she never gave her informed consent to the use of a life threatening anti-seizure medication to treat her non-life threatening chronic low back pain.

Sharon Dunn was not allowed to support her contentions with her neurologist of choice, board certified neurologist, Dr. Stanley Malkin, who would have supported all of her contentions. She was also not permitted to call one of the defendant's neurologist experts, Dr. Harry Gould, who also would have supported her claims. Sharon Dunn was not even allowed to impeach Dr. Yager with his own expert, Dr. Gould, despite the fact that Dr. Yager had been qualified, tendered and accepted by the court as an expert in the field of neurology and allowed to testify about the standard of care owed by a neurologist. Furthermore, when it came time to instruct the jury on informed consent, the court erroneously instructed the jury that informed consent was based, in whole or in part, on the standard of care of the treating physician and that if the defendant didn't breach the standard of care, Sharon Dunn's informed consent was presumed.

Sharon Dunn also contends that the court erred in refusing to allow her to participate in her own trial and in allowing Dr. Yager to introduce evidence of Sharon Dunn's prior settlement without establishing its relevance and that its probative value outweighs its prejudicial effect. Finally, Sharon Dunn contends that the court erred in allowing the defendant

to use FDA excerpts from the 2008 PDR, while precluding Sharon Dunn from introducing excerpts from the 2009 PDR, which quantified the material risks of Tegretol [including severe life threatening dermatological reactions] which would mandate disclosure to a patient like Sharon Dunn in order to obtain her informed consent to take the anti-seizure medication.

ARGUMENT

I. SHARON DUNN WAS PREJUDICED BY THE EXCLUSION OF EXPERT WITNESS AND THE DENIAL OF SUBSTITUTION OF DR. JOHN OLSON

Sharon Dunn was severely prejudiced by the trial court's refusal to allow her to designate the neurology expert of her choice, board certified neurologist Dr. Stanley Malkin. The trial court's sole basis for precluding Sharon Dunn from designating Dr. Malkin as her expert neurologist was not based upon any potential prejudice to Dr. Yager but rather what the trial court viewed as a technical violation of the Case Management Order. The trial court put Sharon Dunn in the precarious position of having to choose between relying on no expert neurologist at all, calling Dr. Olson or defendant's expert, Dr. Gould.

On July 20, 2004, the trial court entered an Agreed Case Management Order which required Sharon Dunn to designate her experts within thirty (30) days or by August 20, 2004, and rebuttal experts by October 5, 2004. (Record p.933). On August 20, 2004, Sharon Dunn timely designated seven (7) different experts, including neurologist, Dr. John Olson, who was not board certified. (Record p.1383-84). Thereafter, on September 28, 2004, Dr. Yager designated two (2) board certified neurology experts, Dr. Kevin L. McKinley and Dr. Terry J. Millette. (Record p. 31). On October 13, 2004, in an attempt to level the playing field, Sharon Dunn timely designated Dr. Stanley Malkin; a board-certified neurologist, as a rebuttal expert. (Excerpts: Record pp. 2091-2111). On October 15, 2004, Dr. Yager filed a motion to strike Dr. Malkin on the grounds that he was not a rebuttal expert as defined by the Case Management Order. (Record pp. 2002-05). Dr. Yager did not suggest he was prejudiced in anyway by the inclusion of Dr. Malkin as a rebuttal expert. As a result of delays unrelated to

this issue, the motion was not heard until August 24, 2006, when the Court struck Dr. Malkin, 679 days after his designation as a rebuttal expert. (Record pp. 2235-36). More importantly, Dr. Malkin was struck before any experts were deposed, before a trial date had been set and without any showing of prejudice to Dr. Yager.

The procedural background of this case reveals that the inclusion of Dr. Malkin would not have resulted in any unfair surprise or ambush to Dr. Yager or impeded the judicial administration of this matter. Most importantly, Sharon Dunn had a substantial right under Mississippi law to present her case with the neurology expert of her choice. This substantial right was significantly compromised when the trial court refused to allow her to designate Dr. Malkin or later call defendant's expert, Dr. Harry Gould at trial.

A. All the parties agree that Dr. John Olson should not have testified.

Dr. Yager was keenly aware that Dr. Olson was not a credible expert witness in neurology and that Sharon Dunn's case could not prevail by reliance on Dr. Olson. Counsel for Dr. Yager provided the following narrative concerning Dr. Olson during his closing argument which amply demonstrates Dr. Olson's inadequacies:

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