IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

DOCKET NUMBER: 2009-CA-00599

SHARON W. DUNN

PLAINTIFF / APPELLANT

VERSUS

JOHN G. YAGER, M.D.

DEFENDANT / APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE
CIRCUIT COURT OF JACKSON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI
CIVIL ACTION NO.: CI-96-0124(3)

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT / APPELLEE / CROSS-APPELLANT

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

Brett K. Williams (MSB [REDACTED])
Kevin M. Melchi (MSB [REDACTED])
DOGAN & WILKINSON, PLLC
734 Delmas Avnue
P.O. Box 1618
Pascagoula, MS 39568
Phone: (228) 762-2272
Fax: (228) 762-3223

Richard W. Franklin (MSB [REDACTED])
ARMBRECHT JACKSON, LLP
Post Office Box 290
Mobile, AL 36601
Telephone: (251) 405-1300

Attorneys for Defendant / Appellee / Cross-Appellant

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT
(Plaintiff's Appeal)

I. The Trial Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion In Striking Plaintiff's Designation Of Dr. Malkin

The trial court did not err in excluding Plaintiff's proposed expert, Dr. Stanley Malkin. Dr. Malkin, a proposed expert in neurology, was designated after the agreed upon deadline for Plaintiff's designations of experts. Judge Krebs rightly held that this forbade his inclusion as a testifying expert. There was no good cause for Plaintiff not to designate Dr. Malkin in a timely manner. She claims prejudice due to the insufficiencies of the neurology expert who did testify on her behalf, Dr. Olson, but that charge is without merit. Dr. Olson was not board certified and had undergone disciplinary sanctions regarding his practice of medicine. These facts were knowable to Plaintiff long before the designation deadline since Dr. Olson first reviewed the case approximately six (6) years prior and is a personal friend of Plaintiff's counsel. Plaintiff was not prejudiced because she still had Dr. Olson to testify about neurology and the standard of care. The mere fact that he was not a credible witness and a poor choice of an expert does not create reversible error. Mississippi law is very clear that the trial courts have wide discretion in controlling their dockets, and demanding adherence to a scheduling order to which Plaintiff agreed is well within the court's discretion.

II. The Testimony of Dr. Gould Was Properly Excluded

The trial court also did not err in precluding Plaintiff from playing the video deposition of Dr. Harry Gould for the jury. Dr. Gould was originally a designated expert of Dr. Yager's. After his deposition, that designation was withdrawn. Mississippi law is clear that a withdrawn expert's testimony is admissible so long as he or she is not referred to as an expert of the opposition's. Plaintiff was made aware of this law and chose to poison the jury anyway. Three times during cross-examination of Dr. Yager Plaintiff's counsel referred to the opinions of Dr. Gould and referred to

him as Dr. Yager's expert. That is highly prejudicial and the trial court was correct to not allow the deposition to be played. Further, Dr. Gould's testimony would merely have been cumulative. Dr. Olson testified after Dr. Yager so any contradiction of Dr. Yager's testimony and opinions Plaintiff hoped to admit through Dr. Gould's deposition could have been accomplished through the testimony of her own retained expert, Dr. Olson.

III. The 2009 Physician's Desk Reference Was Properly Excluded

Plaintiff further cites as error the exclusion of excerpts from the 2009 Physician's Desk Reference. This evidence had no relevancy to the trial. Dr. Yager prescribed Tegretol to Plaintiff in 1995. What was included in the PDR in 2009 cannot be proof of warnings Dr. Yager should have given. Plaintiff supposedly wanted to use the PDR to show the rates of occurrence of Stevens-Johnson Syndrome from taking Tegretol. However, this exact testimony was presented by Plaintiff's retained epidemiologist, Dr. Waring. Dr. Waring testified over the objections of Dr. Yager, thus rendering the 2009 PDR cumulative and unnecessary.

IV. The Jury Was Properly Instructed On Informed Consent

The trial court did not commit reversible error based on the instructions given to the jury. Jury instructions must be read as a whole, and when this is done it is clear there was no error. Plaintiff advocates a position that an instruction on "material risk" should include those risks that do not form the basis of the lawsuit. In other words, an instruction should direct the jury to determine if a physician warned of conditions that never manifested in the plaintiff. That is not the law in Mississippi and Plaintiff cites to no law on the issue. It is clear upon a reading of all instructions that the jury was to consider each cause of action and render its verdict accordingly. The issues of informed consent and negligence were not improperly co-mingled in the instructions.

V. Plaintiff's Constitutional Rights Under Article 3 Section 25 Were Not Violated

Plaintiff's constitutional rights regarding her ability to prosecute her case under Article 3 Section 25 were not violated. When compared to Section 26 that deals with a defendant's right to be heard in a criminal matter, it is clear that this section on civil matters applies to access to the courts. She had access and a fair trial commenced. Plaintiff was simply attempting to avoid further cross-examination had she testified during her rebuttal case. To the extent Plaintiff wanted to just reiterate points made in her initial testimony, her counsel was certainly capable of accomplishing this. This was an attempt to garner sympathy from the jury without any substance to be added, and it was properly prevented.

VI. The Trial Court Properly Allowed References To Parties Who Had Settled

The trial court was correct in its decision to allow the jury to learn that the other defendants had settled. Mississippi law is clear that a jury can learn of the settlements themselves, just not the amounts. This is necessary to prevent juror confusion as to the presence, or lack thereof, of parties who clearly had potential liability in the matter. Also, it is irrelevant that Dr. Yager did not seek to apportion fault, which Plaintiff asserts is a reason not to disclose the existence of settlements. Dr. Yager was unable to completely evaluate the case regarding this issue because he and his counsel were prohibited themselves from knowing the settlement figures and the terms of the agreements.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT
(Dr. Yager's Cross-Appeal)

VII. The Circuit Court Of Jackson County Did Not Have Personal Jurisdiction Over Dr. Yager

The Circuit Court of Jackson County did not have personal jurisdiction over Dr. Yager. The conditions of the Mississippi Long-Arm Statute have not been met. As laid out in the Statement of Facts, *supra*, Dr. Yager had essentially no contacts with Mississippi, and was most certainly not

“doing business” in Mississippi. Also, the alleged tort occurred in Alabama. All of Dr. Yager’s treatment of Plaintiff occurred in Alabama, as did his prescribing of Tegretol. Because Dr. Yager was not doing business in Mississippi and the alleged tort occurred in Alabama, the Long-Arm Statute was inapplicable.

However, even if the Mississippi Long-Arm Statute requirements had been met, those of the Fourteenth Amendment have not. Because the tort occurred in Alabama, specific jurisdiction cannot be had in Mississippi. In addition, Dr. Yager does not have sufficient minimum contacts to establish general jurisdiction. He owns no property in Mississippi, is not licensed in Mississippi, has never practiced in Mississippi, pays no taxes in Mississippi, and operates no businesses in Mississippi. There are no systematic and continuous contacts that trigger general jurisdiction and satisfy the requirements of the Fourteenth Amendment. The exercise of personal jurisdiction over Dr. Yager also offends traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice. Alabama put in place very specific laws for medical malpractice suits. He should not now lose the protection of the laws under which he has always practiced simply because a resident of Mississippi chose to have him treat her.

Finally, it would have a chilling effect on the ability of Mississippi residents to seek medical treatment and, likewise, the ability of Mississippi doctors to treat residents of other states if this ruling were to stand.

VIII. Plaintiff’s Attorneys’ Firm Should Have Been Excluded From Participating In The Case

Dr. Yager contends that the firm of Spyridon, Palermo & Dornan should have been excluded from participation in this case due to Mr. Dornan having acted as the mediator of this same matter prior to joining that firm. Rule of Professional Conduct 1.12 is explicit that a past mediator in an action may not then represent a party, and the disqualification will be imputed to the entire firm.

Plaintiff's counsel was required to promptly inform the trial court and the defendants that Mr. Dornan had joined the firm after serving as mediator and failed to do so. Without prompt written notice to the trial court, Rule 1.12 mandates the entire firm be disqualified.

Rule 1.10 also forbids SPD's representation of Plaintiff because when one lawyer in a firm may not represent a client, no member is permitted. Clearly Mr. Dornan could not represent Plaintiff, so therefore no one in the firm could. It is presumed that confidences obtained by Mr. Dornan will be learned by other members of the firm under this rule.

The Mediation Rules For Civil Litigation also disqualify the SPD firm. This rule is based on the appearance of impropriety and an impression of bias. Mediators are not to enter a professional relationship with any party to a mediation without the consent of the parties. No such consent was sought or given in this matter.

IX. The Circuit Court Erred By Holding Ex Parte Hearings Regarding Prior Settlements And In Not Informing Dr. Yager Of The Aggregate Settlements

The trial court erred in not permitting Dr. Yager and his counsel to learn of the settlement details, including the dollar figures, for those defendants who settled before trial. Mississippi law is clear that a party is entitled to know the settlement figures even though it is not admissible evidence. This helps in determining whether to apportion fault and whether to settle the case themselves. Dr. Yager also should have been permitted to review the settlement agreements to determine if there was anything potentially prejudicial to his case, such as the settlement being accepted on the condition of a witness testifying against him. The trial judge determined that there was no such prejudicial information in the agreements, but Dr. Yager should have been permitted to determine that himself.

ARGUMENT
(Plaintiff's Appeal)

I. The Trial Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion In Striking Plaintiff's Designation of Dr. Malkin

A. Standard Of Review

This Court reviews a trial court's decisions in discovery matters under an abuse of discretion standard. *Beck v. Sapet*, 937 So.2d 945, 948 (Miss. 2006) (citing *Robert v. Colson*, 729 So.2d 1243, 1245 (Miss. 1999)). The trial court's decision should only be reversed if it committed a "clear error of judgment in the conclusion it reached" when evaluating the violation at hand. *Id.* (citing *Caracci v. Int'l Paper Co.*, 699 So.2d 546, 556 (Miss. 1997)).

B. The Trial Court Acted Within Its Authority

Mississippi law has long recognized the broad authority of our trial courts over matters such as this.

Our trial judges are afforded considerable discretion in managing the pre-trial discovery process in their courts, including the entry of scheduling orders setting out various deadlines to assure orderly pre-trial preparation resulting in timely disposition of the cases. Our trial judges also have a right to expect compliance with their orders, and when parties and/or attorneys fail to adhere to the provisions of these orders, they should be prepared to do so at their own peril.

Bowie v. Montfort Jones Memorial Hospital, 861 So.2d 1037, 1042 (Miss. 2003). In fact, this Court has on numerous occasions upheld dismissals of entire cases for a party's failure to comply with a scheduling order and not timely designating experts. *See Id.*; *See, e.g. Kilpatrick v. Miss. Baptist Med. Ctr.*, 461 So.2d 765, 767-68 (Miss. 1984) (dismissal of case for not designating experts according to guidelines of pre-rules statute); *Mallet v. Carter*, 803 So.2d 504, 507-08 (Miss.Ct.App. 2002) (dismissal of case for not adhering to designation dates in court's scheduling order). Clearly since this Court has previously permitted dismissal of cases for failing to designate experts on time,

simply striking the Plaintiff's additional designation of Dr. Malkin was not an abuse of discretion.

C. Dr. Malkin Was Not A Rebuttal Witness

Plaintiff alleges in her brief that Dr. Malkin was a rebuttal witness and not repetitive of Dr. Olson. (Appellant's brief at 18). The scheduling order defined a rebuttal witness as one from "a field of expertise designated by any defendant for which plaintiff does not designate an expert." (R. at 933-36). If evidence simply supplements that which a party has already presented, it is not rebuttal evidence. *See Broussard v. Olin Corp.*, 546 So.2d 1301, 1303-04 (La.App. 3rd Cir. 1989). "Rebuttal evidence is confined to new matters adduced by the defense and not to repetition of the plaintiff's theory of the case." *Id.*

As the trial court correctly noted in granting Defendants' Motion To Strike:

[P]laintiff originally designated an expert in the field of neurology. Defendants likewise designated experts in the field of neurology. Following the Defendants' designations, the Plaintiff designated Dr. Stanley Malkin, a neurologist. Having already designated an expert in the field of neurology, the Plaintiff's designation of Dr. Malkin clearly falls outside the definition of a "rebuttal expert" as **agreed** in the Court's Order of July 20, 2004 and will be stricken for that reason.

(R. at 2235-36) (emphasis added). Plaintiff actually admitted that Dr. Malkin was not a rebuttal witness, albeit unintentionally, in her brief to this Court: "Sharon Dunn and her counsel were concerned that Dr. Olson's expertise would be questioned, so she designated **another** neurologist, Dr. Stanley Malkin..." (Appellant's Brief at 23) (emphasis added). She also acknowledged that "the designation of Malkins [sic] and Olson were identical." (Appellant's Brief at 25). Further, she states that Dr. Olson may not have been allowed to testify because of Dr. Yager's motion to apply Alabama law (Appellant's Brief at 23), which was ultimately denied. (T. at 206-216). This certainly negates the argument that Dr. Malkin was a rebuttal witness as he and Dr. Olson clearly were meant to provide substantially the same testimony. The need for a rebuttal witness is based on the testimony

and evidence presented by Dr. Yager, not the qualifications of Plaintiff's other experts. Certainly the two designated experts cannot have the same designation if one is supposedly rebuttal.

D. Plaintiff Was Not Prejudiced Because Dr. Olson Testified As An Expert

Plaintiff is essentially asking this Court to reverse the Circuit Court's decision to strike the designation of Dr. Malkin because Dr. Olson was, to be blunt, a lousy witness. In fact, she describes him as "woefully inadequate". (Appellant's Brief at 23). Plaintiff then makes disingenuous claims about the exclusion of Dr. Malkin affecting her "right to offer proof of her injuries at trial." (Appellant's Brief at 25). However, Plaintiff had, including Dr. Olson, experts "in the fields of epidemiology, FDA regulations, immunology, neurology, pharmacology, and warnings." (Appellant's Brief at 23). It strains the bounds of logic to imply she could not prove her injuries when all of these fields were represented by experts.

It also must be stressed that Dr. Olson was tendered as an expert in neurology by Plaintiff, was accepted as such by the trial court, and **did in fact testify** as an expert in the field of neurology over the objections of Dr. Yager. (T. at 2047-2049). In fact, Plaintiff's counsel conducted extensive direct and re-direct examination of Dr. Olson. (T. at 2039-2091, 2300-2302). This fact makes the cases cited by Plaintiff in support of her position inapplicable to the one at bar. Plaintiff does not cite to one case where error was found when a medical expert was not permitted to testify and another expert provided testimony on the same subject matter. This is not a case where Plaintiff was left without any expert witness, just the one they, in hindsight, would have preferred. Dr. Olson testified repeatedly about the standard of care for a neurologist in the prescribing of Tegretol during his time on the stand at trial, so Plaintiff was certainly able to put forth this testimony for the jury. (T. at 2063-2091 [specifically], and 2039-2302 [generally]). It is just not true that Plaintiff was

prohibited from putting on expert testimony as to the standard of care for neurologists.

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